Friends Meeting House, St Albans
7 Upper Lattimore Road, St Albans, Hertfordshire, AL1 3UD

National Grid Reference: TL 15199 07181

Statement of Significance

The meeting house is a small former schoolroom of the 1890s with mid and
later twentieth century additions. It has medium heritage value for the
Jormer schoolroom.

Evidential value
The former schoolroom, the oldest part of the building, has been considerably
altered, but still has medium evidential value.

Historical value

The meeting house is a relatively recent building, but is associated with a
strong Quaker tradition in St Albans dating back to the 1670s. This gives it a
medium historical value.

Aesthetic value
The schoolroom is a very simple structure and the later additions are also
modest. The building has low aesthetic value.

Communal value
The meeting house has been used by Quakers and other local groups since the
1930s and has high communal value.




Part 1: Core data

1.1 Area Meeting: Luton & Leighton

1.2 Property Registration Number: 0012370
1.3 Owner: Information not supplied

1.4 Local Planning Authority: St Albans City and District Council
1.5 Historic England locality: East of England
1.6 Civil parish: St Albans NPA

1.7 Listed status: Locally listed

1.8 NHLE: N/a

1.9 Conservation Area: St Albans

1.10 Scheduled Ancient Monument: No

1.11 Heritage at Risk: No

1.12 Date(s): c1895, enlarged 1957 and 1995

1.13 Architect (s): original architect not known; minor alterations 1937 by Hubert
Lidbetter; 1957 additions by Paul V Mauger (local meeting survey says Patrick Wilson);
1995 additions by Donald Insall Associates

1.14 Date of visit: 29 September 2015

1.15 Name of report author: Neil Burton

1.16 Name of contact(s) made on site: Mark Percival

1.17 Associated buildings and sites: detached burial ground in Victoria Street
1.18 Attached burial ground: No

1.19 Information sources:

Butler, D.M., The Quaker Meeting Houses of Britain, 1999, vol.1 pp.264-5
Crellin, Clifford, Where God had a People; Quakers in St Albans over Three Hundred Years

(1999)
Local Meeting survey by William Randles, July 2015

Part 2: The Meeting House & Burial Ground: history, contents, use, setting and
designation

2.1. Historical background

A site in Dagnall Lane was purchased in 1672 and a small meeting house built there. Land in
Longback or Longbutt Lane (now Lattimore Road) was acquired in 1676 for use as a burial
ground. The Dagnall Lane site was enlarged in 1721 and a new meeting house built facing
Spencer Street, with space for burials behind. The meeting closed in 1830 and the building
was sold and converted into a school, but replaced by a new school building in 1846. The St
Albans meeting revived after 1900. A small former schoolroom in Upper Lattimore Road
built c1895 was bought in 1910 for use as a meeting house seating about 50 people. It was



slightly altered in 1937, the bay window on the main elevation was removed and buttresses
added on the long south wall. A new meeting room designed by Paul V Mauger was built
alongside in 1957, leaving the old chapel as a classroom. Further improvements were made
in 1981 and again in 1995 when a new larger entrance lobby was built.
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Fig.i  The evolving ground plan of the meeting house and a perspective view of the present front
elevation, from Butler, vol.1, p.265

2.2. The building and its principal fittings and fixtures

The original 1890s school building is a single range with its gable end to the street. The walls
are of red brick laid in Flemish bond, the roof is covered in slate. The later additions also
have walls of red brick and a mixture of flat and broad shallow-pitched roofs. The meeting
room is a simple rectangular space, lit by a strip clerestorey on the rear (west) wall and with
folding glazed doors to the lobby added in the 1990s.

2.3 Loose furnishings

There are a number of old wooden benches in the meeting room.
2.4. Attached burial ground (if any)

None

2.5. The meeting house in its wider setting

The meeting house is situated on the eastern edge of central St Albans and fronts a road
lined with substantial late nineteenth century houses. One detached burial ground in
Victoria Street (Grid.ref. TL 14927 07209) is maintained by the local Council. Others
identified by Butler are not maintained and are partly built-over.



The former British School building in Spencer Street built on the site of the 1721 meeting
house survives, now converted to offices. Behind is a small car park on part of the original
attached burial ground. Butler records that both the Longbutt Lane and Spencer Street burial
grounds were still in possession in 1903 (Butler, vol.1 p.265).

2.6. Listed status
The building is not considered to be a candidate for the statutory list.
2.7. Archaeological potential of the site

The meeting house is on the outskirts of St Albans in an area which was open fields until the
late nineteenth century, so the archaeological potential is low.

Part 3: Current use and management
See completed volunteer survey
3.1. Condition
i) Meeting House: Good
ii) Attached burial ground: N/a
3.2. Maintenance

The date of the last quinquennial inspection was not given. Income from letting helps to
cover maintenance costs. There is a 5-year maintenance and repair plan.

3.3. Sustainability

The meeting uses the Sustainability Toolkit and has implemented measures to reduce its
environmental impact. These include

e Thermostatic heating controls
e Low energy lightbulbs
e Waste recycling

The building does not have an Energy Performance Certificate. The EPC requirements are
known and the certificate would not give any additional information.

3.4. Amenities

The meeting has all the amenities it needs in the meeting house. There is no resident
warden.

There is good public transport. Off-street parking during the week is limited, but there is
secure storage for bicycles.

3.5. Access

The meeting house is accessible to people with disabilities. There is level access into and
inside the building, an accessible WC and a hearing loop. Internal signage uses British
standard available signs for the benefit of partially-sighted visitors.



3.6 Community Use

Friends use the building for approximately 7 hours per week. The building is available for
community lettings for a maximum number of 60 hours per week and is used for
approximately 50 hours per week. The meeting has a lettings policy. No parties are allowed.
The building is run particularly for meditative and quiet activities in tune with Quaker
principles. Users value the convenient location, very competitive rates, good building, nice
atmosphere.

3.7. Vulnerability to crime

There are no signs of general crime at the site and there has been no heritage crime. There
has been some occasional antisocial behaviour by rough sleepers in the front garden. The
locality is generally well cared-for, has low crime levels, low deprivation and high community
confidence. There is no liaison with the Local Neighbourhood Policing Team.

3.8. Plans for change

None

Part 4: Impact of Change

4.1. To what extent is the building amenable or vulnerable to change?

1) As a Meeting House used only by the local Meeting: the meeting house currently
has all the required facilities but could be altered if required, though space for further
expansion is limited.

i1) For wider community use, in addition to local Meeting use: the meeting house
currently has all the facilities required by its users. There may be scope for limited
expansion if required.

ii1) Being laid down as a Meeting House: should the meeting house be closed or laid
down, it could doubtless find a continuing community use.

Part 5: Category: 3



